1997

Melvon David Turner v. Di Ann Carol Turner : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This case is before the Utah Court of Appeals, following an appeal from the Fourth District Court in and for Wasatch County. The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction of this matter pursuant to § 78-2a-3(2)(h).

III.
STATEMENT OF ISSUES.

A. DID THE COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION AND ERR IN FAILING TO MAKE ADEQUATE FINDINGS TO SUPPORT ITS ORDERS AS FOLLOWS:

1. In imputing income to the Appellant based on voluntary underemployment?

2. In its child support award for seven children?

3. In failing to award Appellant alimony?

4. In awarding Appellee the benefits of any pay-down by Appellant of the mortgage upon the marital home and the benefits of its appreciated value as of the date of pay-off by Appellant to Appellee of his equitable interest in the home.

5. In failing to require Appellee to pay the parties' entire USAA debt?

6. In failing to award Appellant her requested attorney's fees?

7. Appellant also requests attorney's fees and costs of Court for the prosecution of this appeal.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in divorce proceedings is that the Trial Court has considerable discretion and that the Appellate Court will not disturb the Trial Court's decision unless it is clearly unjust or a clear abuse of discretion. *Smith v. Smith*, 751 P.2d, 1149 (Utah App. 1988).

To permit Appellate review, there must be adequate factual Findings. *Willey v. Willey*, 866 P.2d 547 (Utah App. 1993); *Willey v. Willey*, 914 P.2d 1149 (Utah App. 1996); *Willey v. Willey*, 333 Utah Adv. Rpt. 8 (Utah 1997).

Appellant's request that her actual income be used for assessing child support was preserved by her testimony (Transcript, P. 100, L. 19-22) and those issues reserved by the Court at the conclusion of the trial (Transcript, P. 130, L. 18).

Appellant's claim for additional attorney's fees and costs and those fees and costs on appeal was preserved in the Court's Memorandum Decision (R. 160) and her testimony (Transcript, P. 108. L. 25).

The issue of the Appellant's request for alimony was preserved by her testimony (Transcript P. 100 L. 23) and Appellant's claim regarding equity in the parties' home was also preserved by her testimony (Transcript P. 101 L. 15). The issue of the distribution of the USAA debt was preserved by the pleadings (R. P. 7) and

testimony of the parties (Transcript P. 25 L. 3) and the Memorandum Decision (R. 159) as was Appellant's claim for child support for the seven minor children (Transcript, P. 100, L. 19). Appellant also objected to Appellee's child support worksheet (R. P. 35) (Transcript, P. 28).

V.
STATUTES

1. **§ 30-3-5.**

Disposition of Property - Maintenance and health care of parties and children - Division of debts - Court to have continuing jurisdiction - Custody and visitation - Determination of alimony - Nonmeritorious petition for modification.

(1) When a decree of divorce is rendered, the court may include it in equitable orders relating to the children, property, debts or obligations, and parties. The court shall include the following in every decree of divorce;

(a) An order assigning responsibility for the payment of reasonable and necessary medical and dental expenses of the dependent children;

(b) If coverage is or become available at a reasonable cost, an order requiring the purchase and maintenance of appropriate health, hospital and dental care insurance for the dependent children.

(c) pursuant to Section 15-4-6.5:

(i) an order specifying which party is responsible for the payment of joint debts, obligations or liabilities of the parties contracted incurred during marriage.

(ii) an order requiring the parties to notify respective creditors or obligees, regarding the court's division of debts, obligations, or liabilities and regarding the parties' separate, current addresses; and

(iii) provisions for the enforcement of these orders; and

(d) provisions for income withholding in accordance with Title 62A, Chapter 11, Recovery Services

(2) The court may include, in an order determining child support, an order assigning financial responsibility for all or a portion of child care expenses incurred on behalf of the dependent children, necessitated by the employment or training of the custodial parent. If the court determines that the circumstances are appropriate and that the dependent children would be adequately cared for, it may include an order allowing the noncustodial parent to provide child care for the dependent children, necessitated by the employment or training of the custodial parent.

(3) The court has continuing jurisdiction to make subsequent changes or new orders for the custody of the children and their support, maintenance, health, and dental care, and for distribution of the property and obligations for debts as is reasonable and necessary.

(4)(a) In determining visitation rights of parents, grandparents, and other members of the immediate family, the court shall consider the best interest of the child.

(b) Upon a specific finding by the court of the need for peace officer enforcement, the court may include an order establishing a visitation schedule a provision, among other things, authorizing any peace officer to enforce a court ordered visitation schedule entered under this chapter.

(5) If a petition for modification of child custody or visitation provisions of a court order is denied, the court shall order the petitioner to pay the reasonable attorney's fees expended by the prevailing party in that action, if the court determines that the petition was without merit and not asserted or defended against in good faith.

(6) If a petition alleges substantial noncompliance with a visitation order by a parent, a grandparent, or other member of the immediate family pursuant to Section 78-32-12.2 where a visitation right has been previously granted by the court, the court may award to the prevailing party costs, including actual attorney's fees and court costs incurred by the prevailing party because of the other party's failure to provide or exercise court-ordered visitation.

(7) (a) The court shall consider at least the following factors in determining alimony:

- (i) the financial condition and needs of the recipient spouse;
- (ii) the recipient's earning capacity or ability to produce income;
- (iii) the ability of the payor spouse to provide support; and
- (iv) the length of the marriage.

(b) The court may consider the fault of the parties in determining alimony;

(c) As a general rule, the court should look to the standard of living, existing at the time of separation, in determining alimony in accordance with Subsection (a). However, the court shall consider all relevant facts and equitable principles and may, in its discretion, base alimony on the standard of living that existed at the time of trial. In marriages of short duration, when no children have been conceived or born during the

marriage, the court may consider the standard of living that existed at the time of the marriage.

(d) The court may, under appropriate circumstances, attempt to equalize the parties' respective standards of living.

(e) When a marriage of long duration dissolves on the threshold of a major change in the income of one of the spouses due to the collective efforts of both, that change shall be considered in dividing the marital property and in determining the amount of alimony. If one spouse's earning capacity has been greatly enhanced through the efforts of both spouses during the marriage, the court may make a compensating adjustment in dividing the marital property and awarding alimony.

(f) In determining alimony when a marriage of short duration dissolves, and no children have been conceived or born during the marriage, the court may consider restoring each party to the condition which existed at the time of the marriage.

(g) (i) The court has continuing jurisdiction to make substantive changes and new orders regarding alimony based on a substantial material change in circumstances not foreseeable at the time of the divorce.

(ii) The court may not modify alimony or issue a new order for alimony to address needs of the recipient that did not exist at the time the decree was entered, unless the court finds extenuating circumstances that justify that action.

(iii) In determining alimony, the income of any subsequent spouse of the payor may not be considered, except as provided in this subsection.

(A) The court may consider the subsequent spouse's financial ability to share living expenses.

(B) The court may consider the income of a subsequent spouse if the court finds that the payor's improper conduct justifies that consideration.

(h) Alimony may not be ordered for a duration longer than the number of years that the marriage existed unless, at any time prior to termination of alimony, the court finds extenuating circumstances that justify the payment of alimony for a longer period of time.

(8) Unless a decree of divorce specifically provides otherwise, any order of the court that a party pay alimony to a former spouse automatically terminates upon the remarriage of that former spouse. However, if the remarriage is annulled and found to be void ab initio, payment of alimony shall resume if the party paying alimony is made a party to the action of annulment and his rights are determined.

(9) Any order of the court that a party pay alimony to a former spouse terminates upon establishment by the party paying alimony that the former spouse is cohabitating with another person.

§78-2a-3. Court of Appeals Jurisdiction.

(1) The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to issue all extraordinary writs and to issue all writs and process necessary.

(a) to carry into effect its judgments, orders, and decrees; or

(b) in aid of its jurisdiction.

(2) The Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction, including jurisdiction of interlocutory appeals, over:

(a) the final orders and decrees resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings of state agencies or appeals from the district court review of information adjudicative proceeding so the agencies, except the Public Service Commission, State Tax Commission, School and Institutional Trust Lands Board of Trustees, Division of Forestry, Fire and State Lands actions reviewed by the executive director of the Department of Natural Resources, Board of Oil, Gas, and Mining, and the State engineer.

(b) appeals from the district court review of:

(i) adjudicative proceedings of agencies of political subdivisions of the state or other local agencies; and

(ii) a challenge to agency action under Section 63-46a-12.1;

(c) appeals from the juvenile courts;

(d) interlocutory appeals from any court of record in criminal cases, except those involving a charge of a first degree or capital felony.

(e) appeals from a court of record in criminal cases, except those involving a conviction of a first degree or capital felony;

(f) appeals from orders on petitions for extraordinary writs sought by persons who are incarcerated or serving any other criminal sentence except petitions constituting a challenge to a conviction of or the sentence for a first degree or capital felony;

(g) appeals from the orders on petitions for extraordinary writs challenging the decisions of the Board of Pardons and Parole except in cases involving a first degree or capital felony.

(h) appeals from district court involving domestic relations cases, including, but not limited to, divorce, annulment, property division, child custody, support, visitation, adoption, and paternity.

(i) appeals from the Utah Military Court; and

(j) cases transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Supreme Court.

(3) The Court of Appeals upon its own motion only and by the vote of four judges of the court may certify to the Supreme Court for original appellate review and determination any matter of which the Court of Appeals has original appellate jurisdiction.

(4) The Court of Appeals shall comply with the requirements of Title 63, Chapter 46b, Administrative Procedures Act, in its review of agency adjudicative proceedings.

78-45-7.2 Application of guidelines - Rebuttal.

(1) The guidelines apply to any judicial or administrative order establishing or modifying an award of child support entered on or after July 1, 1989.

(2) (a) The child support guidelines shall be applied as a rebuttal presumption in establishing or modifying the amount of temporary or permanent child support.

(b) The rebuttable presumption means the provisions and considerations required by the guidelines, the award amounts resulting from the application of the guidelines, the use of worksheets consistent with these guidelines are presumed to be correct, unless rebutted under the provisions of this section.

(3) A written finding or specific finding on the record supporting the conclusion that complying with a provision of the guidelines or ordering an award amount resulting from use of the guidelines would be unjust, inappropriate, or not in the best interest of a child in a particular case is sufficient to rebut the presumption in that case.

(4) (a) Natural or adoptive children of either parent who live in the home of that parent and are not children in common to both parties may at the option of either party be taken into account under the guidelines in setting or modifying a child support award, as provided in Subsection (5).

(b) Additional worksheets shall be prepared that compute the obligations of the respective parents for the additional children. The obligations shall then be subtracted from the appropriate parent's income before determining the award in the instant case.

(5) In a proceeding to modify an existing award, consideration of natural or adoptive children other than those in common to both parties may be applied to mitigate an increase in the award but may not be applied to justify a decrease in the award.

(6) With regard to child support orders, enactment of the guidelines and any subsequent change in the guidelines constitutes a substantial or material change of circumstances as a ground for modification or adjustment of a court order, if there is a difference of at least 25% between the existing order and the guidelines. In cases enforced under IV-D of Title IV of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. Section 601 et seq., the office may request modification, in accordance, with the requirements of the Family Support Act of 1988, Public Law 100-485, no more often than once every three years.

Section 78-45-7.5. Determination of gross income - Imputed income.

- (1) As used in the guidelines, "gross income" includes:
 - (a) prospective income from any source, including nonearned sources, except under Subsection (3); and
 - (b) income from salaries, wages, commissions, royalties, bonuses, rents, gifts from anyone, prizes, dividends, severance pay, pensions, interest, trust income, alimony from previous marriages, annuities, capital gains, social security benefits, workers' compensation benefits, unemployment compensation, disability insurance benefits, and payments from "nonmeans-tested" government programs.
- (2) Income earned from earned income sources is limited to the equivalent of one full-time 40-hour job. However, if and only if during the time prior to the original support order, the parent normally and consistently worked more than 40 hours at his job, the court may consider this extra time as a pattern in calculating the parent's ability to provide child support.
- (3) Specifically excluded from the gross income are:
 - (a) Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC);
 - (b) Benefits received under a housing subsidy program, the Job Training Partnership Act, S.S.I., Medicaid, Food Stamps, or General Assistance; and
 - (c) Other similar means-tested welfare benefits received by a parent.
- (4)
 - (a) Gross income from self-employment or operation of a business shall be calculated by subtracting necessary expenses required for self-employment or business operation from gross receipts. The income and expenses from self-employment or operation of a business shall be reviewed to determine an appropriate level of gross income available to the parent to satisfy a child support award. Only those expenses necessary to allow the business to operate at a reasonable level may be deducted from gross receipts.
 - (b) Gross income determined under this subsection may differ from the amount of business income determined for tax purposes.
- (5)
 - (a) When possible, gross income should first be computed on an annual basis and then recalculated to determine the average gross monthly income.
 - (b) Each parent shall provide verification of current income. Each parent shall provide year-to-date pay stubs or employer statements and complete copies of tax returns from at least the most recent year unless the court finds

the verification is not reasonably valid. Verification of income from records maintained by the Office of Employment Security may be substituted for pay stubs, employer statements, and income tax returns.

(c) Historical and current earnings shall be used to determine whether an underemployment or overemployment situation exists.

(6) Gross income includes income imputed to the parent under Subsection (7).

(7) (a) Income may not be imputed to a parent unless the parent stipulates to the amount imputed or a hearing is held and a finding made that the parent is voluntarily unemployed or underemployed.

(b) If income is imputed to a parent, the income shall be based upon employment potential and probable earnings as derived from work history, occupation qualifications, and prevailing earnings for persons of similar backgrounds in the community.

(c) If a parent has no recent work history, income shall be imputed as least at the federal minimum wage for a 40-hour work week. To impute a greater income, the judge in a judicial proceeding or the presiding officer in an administrative proceeding shall enter specific findings of fact as to the evidentiary basis for the imputation.

(d) Income may not be imputed if any of the following conditions exist:

(i) the reasonable costs of child care for the parents' minor children approach or equal the amount of income the custodial parent can earn;

(ii) if a parent is physically or mentally disabled to the extent he cannot earn minimum wage;

(iii) a parent is engaged in career or occupational training to establish basic job skills; or

(iv) unusual emotional or physical needs of a child require the custodial parent's presence in the home.

(8) (a) Gross income may not include the earnings of a child who is the subject of a child support award nor benefits to a child in the child's own right such as Supplemental Security Income.

(b) Social Security benefits received by a child due to the earnings of a parent may be credited as child support to the parent upon whose earning record it is based, by crediting the amount against the potential obligation of that parent. Other unearned income of a child may be

considered as income to a parent depending upon the circumstances of each case.

§ 78-45-7.7 Calculation of obligations.

(1) The parents' child support obligation shall be divided between them in proportion to their adjusted gross incomes, unless the low income table is applicable.

(2) Except in cases of joint physical custody and split custody as defined in Section 78-45-2 and in cases where the obligor's adjusted gross income is \$1,050 or less monthly, the base child support award shall be determined as follows:

(a) Combine the adjusted gross incomes of the parents and determine the base combined child support obligation using the base combined child support obligation table.

(b) Calculate each parent's proportionate share of the base combined child support obligation by multiplying the combined child support obligation by each parent's percentage of combined adjusted gross income.

(3) In cases where the monthly adjusted gross income of the obligor is between \$650.00 and \$1,050, the base child support award shall be the lesser of the amount calculated in accordance with Subsection (2) and the amount calculated using the low income table.

(4) The base combined child support obligation table provides combined child support obligations for up to six children. For more than six children, additional amounts may be added to the base child support obligation shown. Unless rebutted by Subsection 78-45-7.2(3), the amount ordered shall not be less than the amount which would be ordered for up to six children.

(5) If the monthly adjusted gross income of the obligor is \$649 or less, the court or administrative agency shall determine the amount of the child support obligation on a case by case basis, but the child support award shall not be less than \$20.00.

(6) The amount shown on the table is the support amount for the total number of children, not an amount per child.

Rule 4-912. Child Support Worksheets.

Intent:

To assist judges and commissioners in applying the statutory child support guidelines to determine child support awards.

To assist the Administrative Office in collecting data regarding child support awards in compliance with 42 U.S.C. § 667.

Applicability:

This rule applies to every final order of child support, including modifications of existing awards.

Statement of the Rule:

(1) The parties shall prepare a worksheet containing information set forth in Appendix G. If the filing party is the Office of Recovery Services, the section on "child care adjustment" need not be completed.

(2) The parties shall file a completed worksheet with the court and the information thereon shall be provided to the Administrative Office of the Court.

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