1997

Melvon David Turner v. Di Ann Carol Turner : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

A. Imputing Income to Mrs. Turner at \$2,490.00 per month is proper in light of her \$2,604.00 per month income in 1994, \$2,490.00 per month income in 1995, \$1,905.00 per month income in 1996 working part-time. Mrs. Turner's attempt to reduce her work hours prior to trial to 16 hours per week is unjustified inasmuch as full time work was readily available and

she worked 36 hours per week in 1995 and 32 hours per week in 1996 through September.

Using the children to justify spending more time at home is not justified on the basis the parties had been separated for approximately 18 months at the time of trial and the minor children are capable of helping at home. Appellant failed to marshal the evidence supporting the Court's finding regarding the imputation of income issue.

- B. The Court's child support award is based on the Uniform Child Support Guidelines and a Child Support Obligation Worksheet admitted into evidence based on the respective incomes of the parties. Appellant has failed to marshal the evidence in support of the child support award and erroneously argued that the Child Support Worksheet was not filed in connection with the Supplemental Decree of Divorce.
- C. The trial Court properly denied alimony to Mrs. Turner based on her financial conditions and needs, her incapacity or ability to produce income, the ability of Mr. Turner to provide support and the length of the marriage. The Court's decision in this regard is supported by appropriate findings which establish that Mrs. Turner has a positive cash flow of \$1,112.00 per month and Mr. Turner has a negative cash flow of \$252.00 per month. The Court's decision not to award alimony is also based on Mrs. Turner's 20% interest in Duke Farms, Inc. which has assets valued at \$541,750.00. Mr. Turner was not awarded any interest in Duke Farms, Inc. in the divorce action. Mrs. Turner failed to marshal the evidence relating to the parties' income and expenses and the value of Duke Farms, Inc. in addressing the alimony issue.
- D. The Court properly awarded Mr. Turner his one-half interest in the family home. Allowing Mrs. Turner the option of buying out Mr. Turner's interest in the home immediately or

selling the home and dividing the equity at a later date is fair and equitable. If Mrs. Turner did not want Mr. Turner to benefit in the appreciation of the property or mortgage pay-down she has the ability to refinance the marital home based on her considerable equity in the marital home and her financial circumstances.

- E. The Court's decision to equally divide the \$11,600.00 USAA marital debt is clearly within the Court's discretion. Mrs. Turner is in a much better position to pay the debt based on her monthly cash flow.
- F. The Court's awarding Mrs. Turner \$1,650.00 for attorney's fees is based on a consideration of the pertinent factors in making an attorney fees award and is further based on the Court's making the requisite findings relating to the time expended, reasonableness of rates charged, legal rates in the community for the type of work involved, the financial needs of the parties, the issues raised in litigation and the \$350.00 offset necessitated by Plaintiff's Motion to Compel.

VII.

ARGUMENT

A. MRS. TURNER HAS FAILED TO SATISFACTORILY MARSHALL THE EVIDENCE TO SHOW THAT THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR ON THE ISSUES PRESENTED. THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING SHOULD BE LEFT UNDISTURBED.

The trial court has considerable discretion in determining the financial interests of divorced parties and property and alimony awards will be upheld on appeal unless a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion is demonstrated. Bingham v. Bingham, supra. Further, the appealing party has the burden to marshal all

evidence introduced at trial tending to support the court's finding and then demonstrate that despite such evidence the Court's finding is so lacking support as to be against the clear weight of the evidence. In Hagen v. Hagen, *supra.*, the Court in addressing the standard of review on appeal stated:

We will not disturb the trial court's findings of fact in a divorce proceeding unless such findings are clearly erroneous. *Jense v. Jense*, 784 P.2d 1249, 1251 (Utah Ct.App. 1989) (citations omitted); *see also* Utah R.Civ.P. 52(a). On appeal, it is the burden of the party seeking to overturn the trial court's decision to "marshall the evidence in support of the findings and then demonstrate that despite this evidence, the trial court's findings are so lacking in support as to be 'against the clear weight of the evidence,' thus making them 'clearly erroneous.'" *In re Estate of Bartell*, 776 P.2d 885, 886 (Utah 1989) (quoting *State v. Walker*, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987)); *see also Riche v. Riche*, 784 P.2d 465, 468 (Utah Ct.App. 1989). 810 P.2d at 481

Mrs. Turner has failed to marshall the evidence in support of the Court's decision on virtually all issues raised on appeal. Such failure will be addressed separately in the following arguments.

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN IMPUTING INCOME TO MRS. TURNER.

Utah laws requires that prior to imputing income to a party in a divorce action the Court must first find that the party is voluntarily unemployed or underemployed. Utah Code Annotated Section 78-45-7.5(7)(a), which has been applied in both child support and alimony cases, codifies this requirement and provides:

Income may not be imputed to a parent unless the parent stipulates to the amount imputed or a hearing is held and a finding made that the parent is voluntarily unemployed or underemployed.

Contrary to Mrs. Turner's assertion, the trial court made a finding that Mrs. Turner was voluntarily underemployed and even referred to the above quoted section:

The Court finds that Defendant is employable, and able to work at a level above which she is currently employed. The Court will therefore, impute income to Defendant based on her historical earnings for 1995, or \$2,490.00 per month. This is done in accordance with Utah Code Ann. § 78-45-7.5(7) (1996). (FOF 15 - Addendum A)

The question of what constitutes voluntary underemployment has been the subject of considerable activity in the appellate courts in recent years. In Hall v. Hall, 858 P.2d 1018 (Utah App. 1993), the Utah Court of Appeals explained that a finding of voluntary underemployment must be based on a thorough appraisal of a variety of factors, including the parties' abilities, employment capacity, earnings potential and possible job openings available. In this case, the trial court considered and weighed the above factors and determined that Mrs. Turner was voluntarily underemployed. In this regard, FOF 2 (Addendum A) provides:

2. Defendant has degrees in both education and nursing, but has chosen not to work full time outside the home. Her income from nursing was \$29,875.00 in 1995, and \$19,783.50 through October 12, 1996.

The testimony is undisputed that Mrs. Turner's income in 1994 was \$31,246.00 or \$2,604.00 per month; her income in 1995 working a 36 hour week was \$29,875.00 or \$2,490.00 per month; her income through October 12, 1996 working part-time was \$19,783.50 or \$1,905.00 per month. Further, had she worked full time in 1996 her income would have been \$33,693.00 or \$2,808.00 per month

and she just received a raise prior to trial. Mrs. Turner testified she could have worked full time if she so desired. (Tr. 78-80, 110-112). Mrs. Turner failed to marshal this evidence in her brief.

Notwithstanding the income levels as set forth above, Mrs. Turner testified at trial her income was \$1,123.00 per month. To explain the discrepancy between her yearly earnings in 1996 and her income calculation of \$1,123.00 per month, Mrs. Turner admitted that she cut her work hours to 16 hours per week less than two months before trial. (Tr. 110).

Mrs. Turner justifies her use of the reduced monthly income by alleging that there are seven children in the home to support and one of the teenage children threatened suicide since the separation of the parties. The children of the parties are all of school age. Jonathan was 18 at the date of trial and was scheduled to graduate from high school at the conclusion of the then current school year. Katie was 16; Robert was 14, Elizabeth was one month short of 12; Benjamin was 9; Gabriel was 8; and Nathan was one month short of 6. These children are old enough to help in the home and Mrs. Turner can work more than 2 shifts per week. (Tr. 113; R. 8, 9)

The threat of suicide is a serious allegation, but does not justify working two shifts or 16 hours per week. The suicide threat occurred approximately one year prior to trial and shortly after the separation of the parties in June, 1995. There was no testimony that the threat of suicide existed at the time of trial. If anything, Mrs. Turner should be able to work more not less hours as the children grow older and the children become accustomed to having their father not reside at home.

The record is clear that the trial court made the requisite finding under U.C.A. 78-45-7.5(7)(a) that Mrs. Turner was voluntarily underemployed and there is sufficient evidence presented at trial to support the Court's imputing income to Mrs. Turner at her 1995 level.

**C. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN
COMPUTING THE CHILD SUPPORT AWARD.**

Defendant challenges the child support award on the basis that no Child Support Worksheet was filed and the Court made inadequate findings. Such arguments are false.

Plaintiff's Exhibit Six is a Child Support Obligation Worksheet which was admitted as evidence in this case (Tr. 28, Addendum E). This Worksheet uses Mrs. Turner's income of \$2,490.00 per month and Mr. Turner's income of \$4,461.00 per month as found by the Court. (FOF 1 and 15 - Addendum A). Again, Mrs. Turner has failed to marshal this evidence in her brief.

The Child Support Worksheet indicates that Mr. Turner's child support obligation is \$1,452.80 per month which is the amount ordered by the Court in FOF 16 (Addendum A) which provides:

16. Based on the incomes of the parties, child support will be set at \$1,452.80 per month.

The combined child support obligation table (Section 78-45-7.14) provides combined child support obligations for up to six children. U.C.A. Section 78-45-7.7(4) provides:

For more than six children, additional amounts may be added to the base child support obligation shown. Unless rebutted by Subsection 78-45-7.2(3),

the amount ordered shall not be less than the amount which would be ordered for up to six children.

Mr. Turner explained how he calculated child support for seven children when the Child Support Obligation table only goes up to six. Mr. Turner testified:

- Q. And why have you calculated seven if you have six children under eighteen?
- A. I have a son that just turned eighteen, he will graduate from high school in May and I feel like I need to take care of him through his graduation.
- Q. The table for determining the amount of child support goes up to six children, how did you calculate for seven?
- A. I took the difference between five and six and added that same amount to make up for the next column. (Tr. 29)

Mr. Turner's approach which was accepted by the Court is rational and in accordance with the Uniform Child Support Guidelines. Further, Mr. Turner is not financially capable of providing additional child support and Mrs. Turner has more than enough revenues each month to meet her monthly expenditures. (See Argument D below).

D. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED ALIMONY TO MRS. TURNER.

In Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072, 1075 (Utah 1985), the Utah Supreme Court set forth the well-settled standard for alimony in Utah. The Court stated:

The most important function of alimony is to provide support for the [spouse] as nearly as possible at the standard of living she [or he] enjoyed during the marriage, and to prevent the [spouse] from becoming a public charge. *English v. English*, 565 P.2d [409] at 411 (Utah 1977)... Three factors... must be considered in fixing a reasonable alimony award:

- [1] the financial conditions and needs of the [spouse seeking support];

[2] the ability of the [spouse seeking support] to produce a sufficient income for [himself or] herself; and

[3] the ability of the [payor spouse] to provide support.

Courts have reiterated this legal standard on a regular basis in addressing alimony issues. Bell v. Bell, 810 P.2d 489 (Utah App. 1991), Thronson v. Thronson, 810 P.2d 428, 435 (Utah App. 1991), Willey v. Willey, 333 Utah Adv. Rpt. 8 (Utah 9197), Hill v. Hill, 869 P.2d 963 (Utah App. 1993) and Schaumberg v. Schaumberg, 240 Utah Adv. Rep. 11, 12 (1994).

The 1995 Legislature codified the factors to consider in making an alimony determination. Section 30-3-5(7)(a), Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, now provides:

The court shall consider at least the following factors in determining alimony:

- (i) the financial condition and needs of the recipient spouse;
- (ii) the recipients' earning capacity or ability to produce income;
- (iii) the ability of the payor spouse to provide support; and
- (iv) the length of the marriage.

The Court referenced the foregoing statute and set forth the above four factors in FOF 17 (Addendum A). The Court further cited Paffel v. Paffel, 732 P.2d 96 (Utah 1986) wherein the Utah Supreme Court determined that “the purpose of alimony is to enable the receiving spouse to maintain as nearly as possible the standard of living enjoyed during the marriage and prevent that spouse from becoming a public charge”. Mrs. Turner’s argument as it relates to the alimony issue is that the Court failed to make appropriate findings. However, the Court’s Memorandum Decision clearly establishes that the appropriate findings were made. With respect to the financial condition and needs of the recipient spouse, the Court made the following findings:

19. When imputing income to Defendant at her 1995 level, Defendant has a

gross monthly income for herself and the children, after receiving child support, of \$3,942.80. Gross income was compared in this case since the Court did not have tax figures for Defendant.

20. Defendant has listed her monthly expenses as \$2,830.00.

21. The Court will decline to award alimony in this case. Considering the respective incomes of the parties, and the ability of Defendant to produce income, alimony is not needed to allow her to maintain the standard of living she enjoyed while married, or to keep her from becoming a public charge. (Addendum A)

Based on the foregoing findings, Mrs. Turner has a positive monthly cash flow of \$1,112.00 per month. Further, had the Court not imputed income to Mrs. Turner but used her monthly income in 1996 she still would have a positive monthly cash flow of \$527.44.

\$1,904.64	1996 Monthly income
+ <u>\$1,452.80</u>	Child Support
\$3,357.44	Subtotal
- <u>\$2,830.00</u>	Expenses
\$ 527.44	POSITIVE MONTHLY CASH FLOW

The second factor is Mrs. Turner's earning capacity or ability to produce income. As set forth above, the Court made findings that Defendant has degrees in both education and nursing, her income from nursing was \$29,875.00 in 1995 and \$19,783.50 through October 12, 1996. (FOF 2 - Addendum A). The Court also found that Defendant is employable and able to work at a level above which she is currently employed and imputed income at her historical earnings for 1995 of \$2,490.00 per month. (FOF 15 - Addendum A).

The third factor considered by the Court is the ability of Mr. Turner to provide support. In this regard, the Court found that Mr. Turner earned \$4,461.00

per month and has a gross monthly income after paying child support of \$3,008.20.

(FOF 1, 18 – Addendum A) Further, Plaintiff's Exhibit 4 was received by the Court which sets forth Mr. Turner's monthly income and expense and shows a negative cash flow of \$252.00 per month.

The last factor considered by the Court is the length of marriage. The parties were married on March 18, 1966. The Court obviously considered this factor in not awarding alimony as it set forth this factor as a consideration. Long term marriages do not mean alimony should be paid when the other factors dictate otherwise. It only means that if alimony is justified, it should continue for a longer period.

It is well established in Utah that alimony awards should to the extent possible equalize the parties' respective standards of living and maintain them at a level as close as possible to that standard of living enjoyed during the marriage.

Howell v. Howell, 806 P.2d 1209 (Utah App 1991); Gardner v. Gardner, 748 P.2d 1076, 1081 (Utah 1988); Jones v. Jones, *supra*; Higley v. Higley, 676 P.2d 379, 381 (Utah 1983). In Howell, *supra*, Judge Bench in his concurring opinion indicated that the alimony award should not reduce the standard of living of the paying spouse below that of the receiving spouse:

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